
United Nations 

GENERAL 
ASSEMBLY 
TWENTY-SIXTH SESSION 

Official Records 

Chairman: Mrs. Helvi SIPILA (Finland). 

AGENDA ITEM 49 

Respect for human rights in armed conflicts (continued): 
(a) Report of the Secretary-General (A/8313 and Add.1 to 

3, A/8370 and Add.1, A/C.3/L.189S/Rev.1, A/C.3/ 
L.18%/Rev.1, A/C.3/L.1910, A/C.3/L.1911); 

(b) Protection of journalists engaged in dangerous missions 
in areas of armed conflict: report of the Secretary
General (A/8371 and Add.1, A/8403, chap. XVII, 
sect. A; A/8438 and Add.1, A/C.3/L.1902 to 1905) 

1. Mrs. IDER (Mongolia) said that the item now before 
the Committee assumed particular importance at a time 
when wars of aggression were being waged by certain 
imperialist and colonial Powers in various parts of the 
world. As everyone knew, the United States of America had 
for years been waging the most barbaric war against the 
peoples of Indo-China, bringing death and suffering to the 
peoples of that region. Although the President of the 
United States had promised that he would restore peace in 
Viet-Nam, the war of aggression had been extended 
throughout Indo-China and, as had been shown by a group 
of scholars at Cornell University's Center for International 
Studies, the war had continued to escalate. The group had 
reached the conclusion that the total tonnage of bombs 
dropped in that war would reach 6.2 million by the end of 
the year. More bombs had been dropped in Indo-China 
since President Nixon had taken office in 1968 than during 
the whole of the Second World War and the Koreap. War 
combined. The zones where indiscriminate bombing was 
permitted had been given another name, but the same 
unrestricted military activities were continuing there. An 
estimated 325,000 civilian deaths had occurred in the past 
five years. 

2. United States pilots had bombed densely populated 
areas and the victims had been mainly women, children and 
old people. The United States was using Indo-China as a 
testing ground for all types of chemical warfare, including 
poisonous chemicals, gases, napalm, etc. Agricultural lands 
and forests in South Viet-Nam had been sprayed with 
chemicals that destroyed crops and sources of food. 
According to Arthur Weating, the Chairman of the Biology 
Department of Windhaw College, from 1962 to 1969, 9 per 
cent of the agricultural land and 13 per cent of the forests 
of South Viet-Nam had been sprayed with chemicals. In 
fact, nearly every province had been sprayed with chem
icals. The International Commission of Inquiry into United 
States Crimes in Indo-China had stated that the chemical 
warfare in Indo-China destroyed the ecological balance in 
that part of the world, which would have serious conse
quences for future generations in Indo-China. 

THIRD COMMITTEE, 1893rd 
MEETING 

Friday, 3 December 1971, 
at 11.10a.m 

NEW YORK 

3. The Pentagon and the Central Intelligence Agency were 
still promoting their inhuman campaign of "pacification" in 
South Viet-Nam, which they regarded as the backbone of 
the "Vietnamization policy". More than 50 per cent of the 
operations of the United States forces and more than 80 
per cent of those of the puppet forces consisted of "search 
and destroy" missions in which villages were razed to the 
ground and tens of thousands of people tortured and 
massacred. In an article published in The Baltimore Sun it 
was stated that a monthly average of 1,850 people had been 
disposed of. There was a division of labour between the 
United States troops and their puppets in the war; the 
Asian puppets carried out most of the "pacification" 
missions, that is to say they did the dirtiest jobs, while air 
attacks were made by United States pilots. 

4. As a result of deportations and "search and destroy" 
missions, more than one third of the population of South 
Viet-Nam had become refugees. These war crimes and 
crimes against humanity were the fruit of the United States 
long-term policy in South-east Asia, and the main burden 
of responsibility lay with the framers of the policy. 

5. Criminal acts of aggression were being committed in 
other parts of the world also. That was happening, as had 
been pointed out by various delegations, in the Arab 
territories occupied by Israel, where hundreds of thousands 
of Arabs had been forcibly driven from their homes and 
deprived of their livelihood. The Israeli aggressors were 
committing such criminal acts as collective punishment, 
destruction of houses, demolition of entire villages, and the 
expulsion, deportation and torture of Arab patriots. The 
crimes perpetrated by the Portuguese colonialists in Angola, 
Mozambique and Guinea (Bissau) and by the racist regimes 
in South Africa and Southern Rhodesia against the peoples 
that were fighting against colonialism, racial discrimination 
and apartheid were further proof of flagrant violations of 
human rights in armed conflicts. 

449 

6. In the view of her delegation, the Committee should 
resolutely condemn the States that committed such war 
crimes and crimes against humanity. The best and most 
effective way of protecting human rights was to eliminate 
war from international relations, and for that reason the 
main efforts of the United Nations should be directed to 
safeguarding the peace and security of all peoples; but since 
in the contemporary world man was confronted with the 
dire reality of wars and conflicts, every effort must be made 
to protect human rights in armed conflicts. To that end, 
States should ensure strict observance of the principles 
enshrined in the existing international humanitarian instru
ments, particularly the Geneva Protocol of 1925 and the 
four Geneva Conventions of 1949. She therefore supported 
the suggestion that all States which had not yet done so 

.AfC.3/SR.1893 



450 General Assembly -Twenty-sixth Session -Third Committee 

should be urged to adhere to those instruments. Mongolia 
had acceded to the Geneva Protocol of 1925, to the four 
Geneva Conventions of 1949, to the Convention on the 
Non-Applicability of Statutory limitations to War Crimes 
and Crimes against Humanity and to the Convention on the 
Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide. As 
to the preparation of new instruments, she shared the view 
expressed by many other delegations, namely, that the 
main existing international conventions applicable in armed 
conflicts should be preserved but that some of their 
provisions should be extended and supplemented so that 
they provided special protection for combatants and 
civilians engaged in struggles for their liberation from 
colonial and foreign domination and to secure their right of 
self-determination, and for participants in guerrilla warfare. 
The provisions on the protection of the civilian population 
should be expanded taking into account the current 
development of increasingly sophisticated weapons of mass 
destruction; and special emphasis should be laid on the 
prohibition of the use of such methods of warfare as 
nuclear, chemical and bacteriological weapons, which, when 
used, made it impossible to distinguish between combatants 
and civilians. 

7. Mr. BETTAUER (United States of America) said that 
his country, which had always been in the forefront of all 
efforts to ensure the protection of human rights, attached 
special importance to the question of the protection of 
journalists. Nevertheless, it had some doubts about the 
preliminary draft international convention recommended 
by the Economic and Social Council in its resolution 
1597 (L). At the Conference of Government Experts 
convened by the International Committee of the Red Cross 
divergent views had been expressed about the proposed text 
and about the advisability of establishing a new category of 
specially protected persons because that might weaken the 
general measures of protection extended to civilians. The 
United States delegation would prefer a more limited text. 

8. No text was yet ready for adoption, however. Indeed, 
the text proposed by the Council and originally introduced 
by the French delegation was still only a preliminary draft 
subject to modification and in his view it raised a number of 
important problems. One of those was what body was to 
issue the safe-conduct cards. The United States did not feel, 
for various reasons, such as the high cost involved of the 
Committee proposed by the working group, that they should 
be issued by the International Professional Committee 
mentioned in the preliminary draft. 

9. Another problem was that article 2 and article 3, taken 
together appeared to provide for dual accreditation of 
journalists. Accreditation procedures should be spelled out 
much more clearly. 

10. Under article 7 of the preliminary draft, foreign 
journalists would receive the same treatment as a country's 
own journalists. It might therefore be wondered what 
additional protection journalists would gain under the 
preliminary draft convention. The whole purpose of a 
convention was to set protective norms higher than those 
already in existence. 

11. The issue of safe-conduct cards for specific missions 
gave rise to another difficulty. In the view of the United 

States delegation it would be better to issue safe-conduct 
cards for a definite period so that they would be available 
when they were needed. 

12. Another part of the preliminary draft with which his 
delegation did not quite agree was the first paragraph of 
article 6, which seemed inappropriate and superfluous given 
the provisions of article 1. 

13. As to the lack of agreement on any text likely to be 
adopted, he pointed out that only 20 countries had sent in 
replies to the Secretary-General's questionnaire and, of 
those, only 15 went into questions of substance. Out of the 
15 replies, 11 contained reservations about the proposed 
text, as was the case, among others, for Argentina, Austria 
Brazil, Lebanon, Spain and Switzerland. It was obvious that 
20 replies were not enough for an important international 
instrument like the proposed convention. 

14. There were many other problems still to be solved: 
what substantive protection would be extended to jour
nalists? The text should spell out whether they would be 
entitled to freedom of movement and immunity from 
seizure of their equipment, whether they might pass freely 
through the lines, and whether they would be subject to 
censorship, exempt from national criminal laws, etc. An
other important point was how to ensure that identification 
procedures would not be used as cover for espionage and 
propaganda and a further question that must be answered 
was whether journalists would benefit from the additional 
protection provided by the convention in their relations 
with their own countries. 

15. Despite the doubts he had just mentioned, the United 
States had wished to participate constructively and had 
therefore "prepared working paper A/C.3/L.1903, which set 
out to resolve a specific basic problem. The working paper 
sought to take into account the wishes of journalists, who, 
broadly speaking, wanted an internationally recognized 
identity card attesting their status which they could, if 
taken prisoner, promptly display. The text was not a 
provisional one: it established a clear-cut identification 
system incorporating the United Nations emblem. It would 
not prevent the Red Cross from developing additional 
methods of protecting civilians. 

16. Article 2 (b) of the paper defined a dangerous mission 
without referring to armed conflicts. In that way, the 
problem of the distinction between international and 
non-international conflicts had been avoided, which would 
allow for greater dispatch. Article 2 stated that the High 
Contracting Parties might issue the identity card, similar in 
effect to article 2 of the preliminary draft convention 
recommended by the Council. Indeed, there was no reason 
why the issue of the identity card should be more 
complicated than that of an ordinary passport. Article 3 
defmed the meaning of the word "journalist" within the 
context of the convention. Article 4 established the obliga
tion of the High Contracting Parties, under international 
law, to respect the provisions in articles 2 and 3. The 
characteristics of the identity card were spelled out in 
article 5 and article 6 allowed journalists to wear an 
emblem. Article 7 defined the respect and protection to be 
accorded to journalists by virtue of their status and under 
the Geneva Convention, to which explicit reference was 



m<'de in a!11ck 9, Dut it indudrd no r·ev: ~ubsta~lti'·'~' 
p!'otections. There was a ver.v sirnple obHgr.ti0r: in ;<rtide i, 
pu:icgi·aph 2, name!:r that '_f r.1isa~.ter befell <~ jovrrr::\ist, th; 
authmi.ties of the country conc~med sbould report the 
nvticr. :\rtlcle 3 ,;xpr-c~;sly •;tat~rl Ul<-~ i;·J· icl.<>atity <:c,rd tn 
be issged pursuant to ~he corrventiO'' •;·'(!!!V ,-.r.i cc'i'•:._· 
i.IiJT!.i'.Hli;;y from 10Ca[l;_;\ (If otl:~r 'irailiJ ['DVil,o;~;,, 

17. Unfortm;a!ely, his de!eg<Jti('P ha-1 ll"l. haJ ;iG'•~ ~c, r,;vr. 
thorough o:msidcraFon to the 1\L;straliaP draft conv"''tion 
(1\:C .3/L 1902) b;.:t it was ·~,;:lsidered ~ c••::~twr·ti'"' efior+ 
to deal with the problem; hov•ever. ;~rtich: 1 n coi the 
Aust,·aHan text V/G1.dd alsc provide special r,c''~ _'\,;•; for 
journali~ts. In the opiP.ion of hi~ d•;kga'wn, it w<~nid b~ 

prop{'T to transmit all the draft conve;;ti·.)!lS tn Gov''i "~ 
rr;_cr:'.:~ for fnrfher comidrwtinn. it '.va,. _;:):n•:ult 1•> :>.gre:.: 
W.ith the C:)ntentS Of Opt TC!IlVIo liil13g"ll;b ( r)' fir,;n .,,c·"J· 

t!Oh _.\jCJ/L.l 90'[ ber:~use sc. iew G•.•vu-,r,.? tts !•;i.j reP':·-·~ 
to th~~ Sec.re t~uy·(~ener:lr '1 qucstionn~ ir~. C uvcr~~-~,,.:;.t:-' 
shO'Jld th<:refore be. r,~'-:"-rl 'rJ snbuJ:.t ll\eir ,:cl:cmlf'ili·• o .. : 2ll 

the te;-.;-~ in time hr the rwe.lty-sev•::>tL ~.:'.;;cion r•f ,~,':' 

G':'nera! Assembly, when, if t"e rcpiit;~ 'Vt•;: :,:ti;;tar rc:· ., 
decisior~ t:.J1}ld ~e takt..-u .. ~:1 f'(:il;yt>· ::;t"•..Jdy 0f the repiic~ tJy 
the S,_~: . .'~!·~t:I f~' .. (}enerC.

1 
1.'/C'U.id ::•._:.s0 ~~f; ~JSE . .ft1 ~, ·:. \7\' 1.~ l_~lf~ :y~ 

impropr:r, in tl·-:: opinj~)n l.Jf h~s de1~;:~1tion, tt~~ hlkC' (~ 

d<:cision 0~1 or .. ,~ part C'r c::::: pielimi;,:uy l~rnft c·Jnver,'\cm 
\Vi.tL:)Ut ~\ ch~ar L-lr:~a ~Jf th;; ;;c(:p~ ~.~!· ·d~3 ':v_b:-J1·; ia~t~Pr~,~-:~J~· 

1f;. :.vir, llA.i·Jnt t'C~z-~cJ~)ElYt"~j~) ~H~cJ H·1t it '~.··-:52~ Y"'-!~.~ 
s_iJJCe the c;-n1~.~te:- C·f the U.n1V:r] ~\i.j.~~--q~-~ he·: f1~.UP<.:i1t.~:i thr. 
principV th~t t!l~.; mal•,tt;\,,,,-t ·•: of i;]te:: !l'J tio,. ':>l l"~Cl•::: "'1'.'' 

sec:mity i!I>rl lhr.- ~t1tlc:,w::nt ''f io;t~~~~:c:!i·:m2l 'lic:p::>ec: by 
pzac~;;ful me;ms wc~e in.lis! ;.,os:•l'C ':':1di!k::~ for '!Jt 
deveiopm~nt c.!Jd ob.:erh1':':e of hmuau , ights ? ... ,.:~ fl:::·':~ 

mentC~l fi,"edc·n-,s. '·t h:Jd u:·lh•tt>nai·elc :l~~l te.~n p(>"s~r.';: 10 

elim:.:~.ate confl~ct~ c~i ~J~; "':(~;~~~;c:Js :~f '\" -. .-{.n _\ ·. ~·~r·.-~~ 

th~~y erttr.dled. 

19. It hzd. bee.a Sl~(~ by h~a~·t.,/ deh:g::--tJ·.n~c. ·tt,.;;.t J·~prn:l:~ 

right~ 3.nd ~.r;r,e-:1. cc,nf1icts ,_, . .~r,,f'. t·.vn _int .;,r:r;\i<\)1; c:'l-,certs 
Th9t v;as S:), but, so bng ,1.::; H:.r~ fr}'C~.c ')f i"'1term' 'on~' 
1r~rperL~Jisr;J prr::dsted in i:>~11er~ti:1g c·)r,f'j(;;:~ ~jj ~T;J~,:;:; 1 ::--~l. · 
of th(~ \Vodd, it \·voulL~ b.;; r 1 e~>";:>;~.o::r; ·,:v f~c,c the ·:~ .. -,·r.·~~-~

ql~CflCeS ~~nd epd~::aVC'J:: ~(' ~n:)Urr: ti}~lt .:n..::r:~Ji, ··Js-ht?. ~~' 1 ei\: 

observed as far as possi:Jlt.! in zrn<ed sont1i·~ts. 

20. T!-Je world was familiar v,rith the cd;nes committed by 
lJnHecl States ~.nr:.~d forces 3fl':l tll'o;l ::;i\ieo. in Vid-~·Jilm 

\Vhrr~ ·J:1a.;;S?CZ''2''; .-l;'Hi !O.i"~Uf~3, }-;''l~'tl~~·i~ .. -·~-~ :1 ~d bOJTlbJ.ng 
vv .. ~T·:: ·.~: .. king ph..'(.'C· ani.~. :n.c.pahn. ph'Js;,hc~ov~ bor:~t1s 2J~~~. 

other inhurmn :lt"vices ')". wHr y;ere bd'lg u~ed .. l_}nite(l 
Stwtes c;ti.,;ens t~.emsel.ves W'!re opposed to the illegal :.ct; 
of the lJnited Str~tes and 'Saigon troops i;1 Indo .. Chlna. 
Czechoslovakia C'!tegorically dc;nounc-; d such vidatio.ns of 
human rights arid f1mdan,ent:'l fr:oedorns o.JJd fuU.y SUI=· 

ported the jm•t struggle of the '•·'iet··Nan'es~ people It wa<; 
inadmissibk that thr. United Statr:~ de.!.•;g3tir. n sh:mld 
attemrt to divert the Committ·~''s Dtteilticm f;·o;n tbc 
criJne·1 its courtry hB.d cc:,lF:itted ~y ·~i~i·w th 11-'·::s!ic;: of 
United States pri;oncrs of war in Hor:h Vie [-N:1r:1. The 
lJnited St1tes W3S der-ioyiPg it' enti~e mili•:nv c<l~<.rity 
against the 'hm<x:r:\tic gqmb;;,: Jf Viet N8~--:~ ,vit\,·,ut f. v':r 
having declared war 011 it. rr,e :lggi·es:sion had t.rought zbo·:~t 
tremendous loss of life <u10 y;,atcricl damage. Ccnseq1:ently, 
d1;: G:Jvc;·,T·,T~,:::-~t of ~I:e f~·e:::1·;:;:;..:r..ttc H.c:p~Jbi:r; 'Jf '/le·:~~l· :,·,·1"1.1 

rP.g,l;·ded '''e vlpi.m';;j "Cr.it:~d Sr.•.tles a:;men as crirn:'"'l~ :;,;c 

did not ap!_)Jy to th:;m the provisions of tho:' GP.nev~ 
ConvenJ~~f_·.:n , ~~.]ative PJ th~ Tr?·1tn1ent uf Pt:'l!-::Ch1ers ci· Vi~r, 
in ;csp..:ct pf wticJ.~ ~~s •)f which it had duly f•moul~te .. -.J its 
rr.ser·:·r;~icJ~. ~·lP:7~rthelrs~-. ~~1 ~--o"'."!_tras1- v\ith ~L~; :rf';r.~t~T:1e'1t of 
~:rdsorJ.r;t'\ by ~-~'\;1r:·l St?t~:.:=: ;:1_n_c1 s~~i.gen irc·:.:p~l the J)cn.~~-~ 
c•.'atk~ i· '.~c. ..:~J ~v·j~:~ -1:-~~nn Vlf'3 pu ... s~1ing ~ tolerant ~:JL~ 

~~PF 1 :ine P'_)Hcy 'li: .·~~vis tLe ,:·:-trtl'r~d {Jn~.-~>::1, s·c~tes aiiTt!en 
lltf l~~'"'ror~~-ihn-r~·y ~-~H t~te. s~tua~·icn restert 1~-~~o~\~;iy y·.JJ!~ th.; 
I.Jnit;:od StHte~. ~~-;hic-h ~.v2s ~-dil r0fu::;inr;; to rfs~.~~-;,~~:. L":.: 
~.-_~tH:sth)t! cf '"V}-::·t .\:-~1rc; by 1 ~~.~f!ful IEP:3n') r)n the b~.')ls of tl
prP;-~1)3-?h; r.r.~~!l 1 ~ by tLe r\~J.nor··nt~~ H:~r~J.bti( pf \/f:tf~l&E' 
tl-) ·~i:!'do:;?l Libe··~J:o.~: r. · c-r~t: :. r Scu fit ·v·l.~,~-..r\r--r:: :.r_r] U"' __ 
i ·r(."'l;_. :~,-! JJ'~;:! ? f·volu\ iunr ry ( -.:_n_,(.· , ... ,_7_ucni cd· ~c uJh ~''l::·t.~l·~I:~]~~-

'21. T'hr (>··, :·~.·~.ittc:£ .. ~~r, a~t(:ntic.··. h?d nJrtc'1~' be:=-n drns·.;n. '.· · 

::~·:ir;~\·;~;'
1

, ''.~;;: ~~·:~: ~'~',: ~~!~~~;~~ll ':~;~;~~,~~":;~,\1,2~'. ,~;~·~ ~~-~ ~t;,7;;:·, 
F:~ct~ t·.Hi t.ll~~:gv:rt!y s:~t ~ ... ~rth ii ;·h(~ r.:~P·-~d of ttJ. 

Spr:".:i31 ( :ur:~r ~!ttec f' I!:~·~'·s~ig:::tf.: ~S~(.•?li ?r:;ctict".:: ... t.JTe~.·:tip~·· 
(~.e .li.J,;:Hi l'.ia!rtc: of ft•l') f\'1~\.'l?tinm' di' the ::)r:cur,···· 
rer:~tOi.·f,:;:,: ~r·!&.c'~-·.1' :;?.:~ to b;"• ~~3.:>~~-Ut;Se~ iJy tlt>:. :~]pet:; .. ,: 
!:\)111~;,:-l C~)!"i'-'I'itt;::t i,J ~~c;~DBY.k:>. \Vit]: a~e·~1d1 iten·~ .':f 

caUy r~t"'!l'.nr··~.:cd sucb v:oLttls .:,; ::~: hur--~~~n j!.t.;: ~~'" i·~ 

?Ju'lf:'C:tirc::'-~ deum!!•red t1·Je 1 ;,. (h_:",;;~ i::Jj:-pres~;i.on c•f th, 
111tio!{'ti _hhe1_.1t~on l110Vf;!l"JCtltS (~f EL; r;r:c.:r~l~-:~ cf A:.J.t;~~J1 

t, ~, { _!-~( ~J;c:~.~ iJ!"gCT~t t~q1·-; 1.iJ !· ~:· :t.E~~ .. try·s or irdt:.t"l, \V[lS LJ 

s:·:·:·J~ e the :::trl,· r rJL!"'f~f·'llHC'f. 'Ji ~ y_-iT~iJ}fJ; ]i~gf:d ir~:;tfl}!GC.nts }_·._ 

:h·~ p·r·~Ji::,~r<::·~ of ~.r:.1n1:•n right; j!l ~-r.;·H:~d cc.~;.f!ict~, ~lJ 

p::=ttf lr:~,~.: r t}l? Ge~~~eva Cui:.Vt:nt:•_,.ns of 1 r).:~9~ tt.·; Cr~_,l_V(,ntio~· 
{Fl. thr~ 1}_,_cve~tt·:.'J."1 ;.'D(~ -~~u;t:~<1rl:-;:tt (.,f ~}·J~; Crtrne ll·,' 

(.'P,~~~;'-.. ~.fl: ft., ~~: !'t~P.~r\1 p~y~tc ·>f n~f! l-1::1g'le ('~,-.~·~ 

,r~··ll;·_~Jns :·. -id ll~l:~ 1>'"Jn.·-r.:r:·._DL t>f' tl. ~ i~k·n~.···,f-'I·Eca;~lility qf 
f);_~ i:~!: (:r~· 

P. l('~f'.i;itv 
~ jtpj~ .. l·T(J~·ls tu ~~~,;7~r (:rh.·n~s ~~,-,d Crin1e;-: r~g:lin:·; 

~~. \\<_r;dd ~'':: ar~-~-tr~~ .. ··-.:-·t:- l.:·'~ ?r~~Otlg ,.~·Ht~~~~ t;jnt:!, 

23. Because of the new and intricate met;10ds of warfare 
increasingly being developed, steps should also be taken to 
widev and improve the protection ofhuma.n rights in amv~d 
conSkts. It v~~-··Jlr.' no1. be desi;a~)le to '""'s~ tbt:- Ge:.;(,\'8 

~OnVCJ}J'i("q':; f)r ~Jtbr~r e\iSl ;1: 1!, jnterr;atif'~·:.~~ ;n·,!.tP!Yi:~lit 1 ', 

-~r,.t,os~ vJ.~;.:~~;l!~) \Vas ~hf;r.~d:r p~_(Y·le~.l, :~~~;t tG ;~dor--< furtl,_·:~· 

:,1eas~1re~ to strengt~~r.n and ::Jf~Jn;crt:-~ iLt' ~:aotcction of 
dviFan pop·,rlatior.s.. ~.!lC t(; -nsu::<~ ~·.·w ;:.·"Otr:;;ti-:m uf 
gucr.iJla flflners l: -lder ex.Btlr'J! :1r,d fut•.tre Jn~s:na~icr~,1l 

insir'.rT: ent~ 

?4. IuternationJJ yr,iteciior• fJf th~ .:ivJli;:;n ?O~·qi~:io,l ;l'i 
<mned r.onf:ic~s ""='·~ rdatr;;;d not cnly ·io :~u·:; ;,c; bu'~ 
81~o 1.o intrrn::.ticnJl law Thr~t; ~vqs n(hV ~"'.--~ fi!S ,' .. ;·.' }Jeifu . .t:''l: 

but jus ln bello nr:e0eJ tcj 1~;e .~.~ .• ·Jn~ e.<ph\~i-:·-!y ·ic.d;:,::.J. :.::0 thr.~t 

thf effo11:~ \:t neo·co!onlal ist ai;gres~(- rs I:J $~1 ~~p:c~:;:; ~"'..at.io D~l 

Hb~~~f\ti,y·l :;,~.r~~,:?~_~:::.-: cou!f~ ~~ ::hc·.2>~:.-.~~: 

1 Docunlents A/83S9 anC Cou.i. ar.:d 1 :1nc: .--\dc1..1 jiAd /\dd.l/ 
Corr.1. 



452 General Assembly - Twenty-sixth Session - 'lliird Committee 

25. The mobility and destructive power of the armed leaving the responsibility for the application of inter-
forces had increased enormously. Since the introduction of national instruments to the parties concerned. Measures 
weapons of mass destruction, it was impossible to distin- were needed to guarantee and strengthen international 
guish between combatants and non-combatants, so that the supervision and secure the application of humanitarian 
protection of civilians had become a vain illusion. Thus, rules. There seemed to be no better interpretation of 
any rules for the protection of civilians which disregarded paragraph 1 of common article 10 of the Geneva Conven-
that fact would be inadequate and unreal. tions than to involve the United Nations directly as an 

26. Protection of members of national liberation move
ments was a necessary step forward in the progressive 
development of contemporary international law. Since the 
right of peoples to self-determination, and their right to the 
elimination of colonialism and the eradication of all forms 
of racial discrimination had been recognized, those who 
were fighting for those rights were entitled to be protected. 
Captured members of national liberation movements should 
be able to enjoy the same rights as prisoners of war in 
pursuance of article 4 of the relevant Geneva Convention. 

27. It was heartening to know that the Conference of 
Government Experts convened by the International Com
mittee of the Red Cross in 1971 had considered those 
problems even though no concrete proposals had been 
made, an omission which should be remedied at the next 
conference. All States should participate in activities aimed 
at strengthening the observance of human rights in armed 
conflicts and therefore no country should be excluded from 
the Conference of Government Experts to be held in 1972. 

28. Mr. AL-SHAWI (Iraq) said that General Assembly 
resolution 2677 (XXV) reaffirmed the validity of existing 
humanitarian norms, in particular the Hague Conventions, 
the Geneva Protocol of 1925 and the Geneva Conventions 
of 1949. He therefore welcomed the decision of the 
International Committee of t~ Red Cross to convene the 
Conference of Government Exi>er.t.Lon the Reaffirmation 
and Development of International Humanitarian Law 
Applicable in Armed Conflicts. In its comments on the 
report of the Secretary-General (see A/8313, chap. II), his 
Government had welcomed that initiative and emphasized 
that the first thing to be done was to ensure the strictest 
application of the existing rules. Unfortunately, all the 
meetings of the Conference of Government Experts had 
been closed to the public, no resolutions had been adopted, 
and the application of the existing rules of humanitarian 
law had virtually been ignored. As the Secretary-General's 
report indicated (A/8370 and Add.1), all that had emerged 
from the Conference was a draft protocol on the protection 
of the wounded and sick, additional to the Geneva 
Convention relative to the Protection of Civilian Persons in 
Time of War. As the President of the International 
Committee of the Red Cross had said, the Conference had 
demonstrated that solutions were possible and it should 
therefore continue its work; that was a tacit admission of 
the failure of the Conference. 

29. The best way to protect human rights was to eliminate 
all wars, but since lasting peace seemed to be a remote 
possibility it was the duty of the world community to 
adopt measures to secure the best possible application of 
existing international instruments relative to the protection 
of human rights. Nothing-publicity, education, protecting 
Powers or humanitarian organizations-could alone con
tribute effectively to the alleviation of human suffering at 
the present time. Experience had shown the futility of 

impartial and effective world organization. If, for example, 
account were taken of all the crimes, atrocities and 
violations of human rights committed by Israel in the 
occupied Arab territories, as confirmed by the Special 
Committee to Investigate Israeli Practices Affecting the 
Human Rights of the Population of the Occupied Terri
tories, it would be found that all the United Nations and its 
organs had done was to adopt more resolutions and report 
proceedings of debating societies such as the one at Geneva. 

30. The troubled world did not need any more resolutions 
or international instruments. What it urgently needed was 
an act of deliberate courage, a reaffirmation of its determi
nation to enforce all those principles. If only Chapter VII 
of the Charter were faithfully observed, it would go a long 
way towards alleviating the sufferings of millions of human 
beings. 

31. Mr. ALVAREZ TABIO (Cuba) said that, as indicated 
by the Mexican representative at the previous meeting, the 
two draft resolutions submitted under agenda item 49 (a) 
offered different solutions to the same question. He 
supported the second text (A/C.3/L.1896/Rev.l) because it 
tackled the problem in a positive and active way and 
reflected the views expressed by many delegations in the 
debate. He attached great importance to the provisions of 
operative paragraph 2. The Swedish representative had 
explained at the 1885th meeting that the draft resolution 
was designed to limit the use of especially cruel weapons; 
but there was no mention in that paragraph of fragmenta
tion bombs, which had been designed and perfected to 
cause great suffering but were totally ineffective on military 
objectives. Their only purpose was to create terror among 
the civilian population: they were the arms of genocide, 
conceived with an indescribable refmement of cruelty. He 
therefore proposed that the words "such as fragmentation 
bombs" should be added to the end of operative paragraph 
2 (b) of draft resolution A/C.3/L.1896/Rev.l. He also 
suggested that the words "and all aspects of their possible 
use" should be deleted from operative paragraph 4, since 
they might give the impression that there were circum
stances in which the use of such arms was admissible. With 
the example in Viet-Nam of the condition of the victims of 
arms such as the NPT bomb, made up of napalm, 
phosphorus and thermite, before his eyes he could not 
accept any wording which might be open to an erroneous 
interpretation. He also supported the amendments in 
documents A/C.3/L.1910 and A/C.3/L.1911 and seconded 
the Mexican representative's request that priority should be 
given to draft resolution A/C.3/L.1896/Rev.l. 

32. With regard to the preliminary draft convention, in the 
first place, what was important was to protect civilians and 
not a particular category of persons. The terms "jour
nalists", "dangerous mission" and "specified geographical 
area" which appeared in the draft were too vague. 
Reference was made to the rights of journalists and the 
obligations of States, without defming the duties of 



1893rd meeting- 3 December 1971 453 

journalists. The mention of article 19 of the Universal 
Declaration of Human Rights was not sufficient in con
nexion with activities to be carried out in an area of armed 
conflict. The rights of journalists could not be allowed to 
take precedence over the interests of the community 
involved in the conflict; it was well known that journalists 
in the service of imperialism used the right to freedom of 
information to distort news. It was dangerous to create 
:supranational instruments limiting the sovereign powers of 
States. The convention was an attempt to establish a 
privileged category instead of ensuring the application of 
the 1949 Geneva Conventions which protected the civilian 
population as a whole. No State should have its sovereignty 
subjected to the authority of an international committee. 
Lastly, it was ridiculous to compare a foreign journalist 
with nationals, since their rights were accorded only by the 
receiving State and had nothing to do with the possession 
of an identity co.rd. 

33. With regard to the statement of the United States 
representative, who had implicitly but quite definitely 
contradicted the Cuban delegation, he quoted certain 
paragraphs from official documents published in The New 
York Times which exploded once and for all the great myth 
that United States troops were in South Viet-Nam to 
defend the right to self-determination of the people of that 
State. The United States imperialists were opJy trying to 
justify their aggression. 

34. Mr. BAL (Mauritania) introduced the amendments to 
draft resolution A/C.3/L.1896/Rev.l contained in docu
ment A/C.3/L.1911. The resolutions listed in the first 
amendment were particularly important. He hoped that the 
sponsors would be able to accept the second amendment. 
He proposed that in the English version of the second 
amendment the word "foreign" before the word "domina
tion" should be replaced by the word "alien". 

35. With regard to the draft resolution introduced by the 
United Kingdom (A/C.3/L.l895/Rev.l), while he wel
comed the improvements that had been introduced, his 
delegation still had a number of reservations concerning the 
revised text. For example, the report of the Secretary
General (A/8313) was noted with appreciation but not the 
report in document A/8370 and Add.l which was of 
special interest to his delegation. 

36. With regard to the resolutions mentioned in the 
United Kingdom draft resolution, they were certainly 
important but they were only procedural. He therefore 
asked if the sponsors would be agreeable to amending the 
first preambular paragraph to read as follows: 

"Recalling its resolutions 2444 (XXIII), 2597 (XXV), 
2677 (XXV) and especially paragraphs 11 of resolution 
2652 (XXV), 9 of resolution 2707 (XXV) and 11 of 
resolution 2678 (XXV)." 

That would remove many of his delegations difficulties. 

37. Another matter of concern to his delegation was the 
lack of balance due to the absence of any reference to the 
Secretary-General's report (A/8370 and Add.l), which 
mentioned certain resolutions appealing to the United 
Kingdom, Portugal and the Pretoria regime to treat freedom 
fighters under detention as prisoners of war in accordance 
with the relevant international instruments. He proposed 

the insertion of a new third preambular paragraph on the 
following lines: 

"Noting with satisfaction the reports of the Secretary
General (A/8313 and Add.l-3 and A/8370 and Add. I) on 
respect for human rights in armed conflicts." 

38. There seemed to be a contradiction between the 
fourth preambular paragraph of the present text, which, 
emphasized that effective protection for human rights in 
situations of armed conflict depended on universal respect 
for humanitarian rules, and the fifth, which recognized that 
existing rules did not meet contemporary needs. The sixth 
preambular paragraph only added complications to an 
already complicated text and should be deleted. 

39. Operative paragraph 4 was perplexing. How, for 
example, could the NATO Powers be asked to review their 
reservations concerning resolutions on the crime of apart
heid, concerning the inclusion of the word Palestine in 
resolutions on the Middle East or concerning resolutions 
on Rhodesia and the Territories under Portuguese domi
nation'? If those Powers were to withdraw their reserva
tions it would hardly be necessary for the Committee to 
discuss the present item, since most of the problems would 
be resolved. 

40. His delegation had the highest esteem for the admi
rable work done by the Red Cross, the more so because of 
its limited means, and therefore agreed with the provisions 
of operative paragraph 3. However, it was to be hoped that 
the foreign Powers which had caused the conflicts would 
reflect on the harm they were causing to humanity and 
would devote all or part of the enormous sums they were 
spending on battles for power to promote respect for 
human rights. 

41. Draft resolution A/C.3/L.1895/Rev.l contained no 
mention of the question of the rules applicable to wars of 
liberation. The International Committee of the Red Cross 
had submitted a draft protocol which would modify the 
conditions set forth in article 4, paragraph A (2), of the 
third Geneva Convention to allow captured guerrillas to be 
treated as prisoners of war. That shouid have been reflected 
in the draft rewlution. 

42. Mrs. SELL.Mv11 (Algeria) supported the Mauritanian 
representative's comments on draft resolution A/C.3/ 
L.1895/Rev.l and said that there was no point in sub
mitting amendments to it because it was too general in 
nature and did not adequately reflect the problems ex
pressed during the debate. 

43. The CHAIRMAN announced that Tunisia had joined 
the sponsors of the amendments submitted in document 
A/C.3/L.l911. 

44. She also said that the Committee had agreed that the 
deadline for submitting amendments to draft resolutions 
under item 49 (b) would be 5 o'clock that day but it had 
set no deadline for introducing the actual draft resolutions. 
The only draft resolution at present before the Committee 
was draft resolution A/C.3/L.l904 introduced by France. If 
there were no objections she would assume that it was the 
only one on the item in question and that the deadline of 
5 o'clock should remain for the introduction of amend
ments. 

It was so decided. 

The meeting rose at 1.05 p.m. 




